#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NUMBER: SC13-1215** 

Lower Tribunal Case No. 11-15145

# MDS (CANADA), INC., BEST THERATRONICS, LTD. and BEST MEDICAL INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

#### RAD SOURCE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Appellee.

# BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

#### **Of Counsel:**

Robert M. Moore Kristen A. Bennett Richard O. Wolf Moore & Lee, LLP 1751 Pinnacle Drive, Suite 1100 McLean, Virginia 22102

Tel.: (703) 506-2050

Charlie C.H. Lee Florida Bar No. 96671 Moore & Lee, LLP 1 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1200 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel.: (703) 927-2425

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

This matter is before this honorable Court in accordance with Art. V, § 3(b)(6), Fla. Const., pursuant to submission of the following certified question of law by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit ("Eleventh Circuit"):

When a licensee enters into a contract to transfer all of its interests in a license agreement for an entire term of a license agreement, save one day, but remains liable to the licensor under the license agreement, is the contract an assignment of the license agreement, or is the contract a sublicense?

MDS (Canada), Inc. v. Rad Source, 720 F.3d 833, 856 (11th Cir. 2013); Appendix ("App.") at 43. For the reasons discussed below, the Appellants, MDS (Canada) Inc. (now known as Nordion (Canada) Inc.) (hereinafter referred to as "Nordion"), Best Theratronics, Ltd. ("Best Theratronics") and Best Medical International, Inc. ("Best Medical") (Best Theratronics and Best Medical sometimes collectively referred to herein as "Best") (all appellants hereinafter collectively referred to as "Appellants"), respectfully submit that this Court should answer the certified question by stating that the contract at issue is a sublicense.

#### A. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT

The underlying dispute between the parties arose from a suit to enforce a contract between Nordion and the Appellee, Rad Source Technologies, Inc. ("Rad Source"), which is governed by Florida law, to license patents (hereinafter referred

to as the "License Agreement"). [Record ("R.") 286-1; App. at 70-94]. On October 15, 2009, Appellants filed their Complaint [R. 1] and Emergency Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction [R. 2-3] against the Appellee, Rad Source Technologies, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "Appellee" or "Rad Source"), in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida (hereinafter referred to as the "district court"). [R. 1-3]. On October 27, 2009, a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction was granted in favor of Appellants. [R. 40, 48]. Rad Source filed a counterclaim. [R. 80].

In April 2009, the district court conducted a ten-day, non-jury trial. [R. 332-341]. On September 30, 2011, the district court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law [R. 350] and Entry of Final Judgment [R. 351]. Among other things, the district court ruled that the contract between the parties remained in full force, but held that no party was entitled to recover damages and dismissed the case on the merits. *MDS* (*Canada*), *Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 840; App. at 9.

The district court also ruled that Nordion breached a clause of the License Agreement that required Rad Source's consent to assignment when, on April 30, 2008, Nordion entered into a sublicense agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "Sublicense Agreement") with Best Theratronics and Best Medical. *MDS* (*Canada*), *Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 839, 854; App. at 6, 39. The Sublicense Agreement,

The Record citation numbers herein correspond to the docket entry numbers used in the proceedings before the district court.

which was entered into after Rad Source refused to consent to an assignment from Nordion to Best, was for a term of one day less than the term of the License Agreement. [R. 290-C; App. at 6]. Thus, as stated in the certified question, Nordion, the licensee, remained liable to Rad Source, the licensor, under the License Agreement. *Id.*, 720 F.3d at 856; App. at 43.

#### B. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

Appellants filed a timely appeal from the district court's decision with the Eleventh Circuit. Rad Source did not appeal from the district court's decision. Rad Source asserted, however, that the Eleventh Circuit lacked jurisdiction to hear the appeal. Rad Source argued that the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit had exclusive appellate jurisdiction. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 841; App. at 10. The Eleventh Circuit ordered the parties to submit supplemental briefs to address whether it had jurisdiction. *Id*.<sup>2</sup>

On July 1, 2013, the Eleventh Circuit issued its opinion. The Eleventh Circuit rejected Rad Source's assertion that it lacked jurisdiction. *MDS (Canada)*, *Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 843; App. at 15-16. The Eleventh Circuit held that it had

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1338, federal district courts have original jurisdiction over matters arising under federal patent law. When the appeal was filed with the Eleventh Circuit, 28 U.S.C. § 1295 provided that the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit had exclusive appellate jurisdiction from a final decision of a federal district court if the federal district court's jurisdiction was based, in whole or in part, on 28 U.S.C. § 1338. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 841; App. at 10.

jurisdiction over the appeal because the district court's jurisdiction was not based on federal patent law, but rather on diversity and supplemental jurisdiction. *Id*.

The Eleventh Circuit then proceeded to review the merits of the district court's decision, including its ruling that Nordion breached the License Agreement when Nordion entered into the Sublicense Agreement with Best. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 839, 854; App. at 6, 39. The Eleventh Circuit determined that resolution of the issue of whether the Sublicense Agreement is a sublicense or an assignment is dispositive of whether Nordion has standing to recover damages from Rad Source for Rad Source's breach of contract. *Id.*, 720 F.3d at 854, n. 9; App. at 39.

The three-judge panel of the Eleventh Circuit was divided, however, as to whether there was clear precedent under Florida law to resolve that issue. *Id.*, 720 F.3d at 854-58, ; App. at 39-50. Two members of the panel, the Honorable Joel F. Dubina and the Honorable R. Lanier Anderson, "were uncertain of the proper resolution of this issue" and, therefore, decided to submit the certified question to this Court. *Id.*, 720 F.3d at 854; App. at 40.

The third member of the panel, the Honorable William H. Pryor. Jr., dissented on that point and concluded that submitting the certified question to this Court was unnecessary because the certified question is "controlled by a bright-line rule that has been uniformly followed by the appellate courts of Florida and twice

approved by the Supreme Court of Florida." *Id.*, 720 F.3d at 858; App. at 48. Judge Pryor stated that, "[u]nder Florida law, the agreement between Nordion and Best is a sublicense because Nordion did not grant all of its rights to Best." *Id.* 

On July 23, 2013, Rad Source filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Eleventh Circuit. On August 22, 2013, the Eleventh Circuit denied that motion.

#### C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. THE PARTIES

Nordion is a health sciences company with a specialty in the detection, prevention, and diagnosis of disease. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 838; App. at 3. Best Medical is an international health company that primarily develops, markets, manufactures and sells brachytherapy and radiation therapy devices. [R. 333, pp. 141-142]. Best Theratronics is an international health company that manufactures and sells self-contained blood irradiators and external beam therapy units. [R. 333, pp. 143, 145]. Rad Source is a company that specializes in research and development of irradiation technologies, including technology to irradiate blood. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 838; App. at 2.

### 2. BLOOD IRRADIATION TECHNOLOGY

Blood irradiation is a process where blood to be transfused into a patient with a suppressed immune system is treated so that the transfused blood does not cause a fatal blood disease in the patient called Graft Versus Host Disease. *MDS* 

(Canada), Inc., 720 F.3d at 838; App. at 2. Blood irradiators, which require approval by the Food and Drug Administration in order to sell them in the United States, traditionally used radioactive isotopes as the source of radiation to treat the blood. Id. Rad Source developed technology under which x-rays (rather than radioactive isotopes) could be used as the source of radiation to treat blood. Id. Starting in approximately the late 1990s, Rad Source manufactured and sold a blood irradiation device that used x-rays to treat blood called the RS 3000. Id. Rad Source obtained three patents associated with RS 3000: Patent No. 6,212,255, Patent No. 6,389,099 and Patent No. 6,614,876 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Patents). Id; App. at 3.

#### 3. THE LICENSE AGREEMENT

On August 20, 2003, Nordion entered into the License Agreement that was the subject of the appeal to the Eleventh Circuit. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 838; App. at 4. The License Agreement was the product of negotiations that lasted more than one year. *Id.* Nordion paid Rad Source \$1.7 million under the License Agreement. *Id.* Rad Source is not due any further payment under the License Agreement. [R. 333, pp. 212-216]. Article 13.13 of the License Agreement states in part that it "shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, USA, without reference to its principles on conflicts of laws." App. at 92.

#### a. NORDION'S RIGHT TO SUBLICENSE

Article 3.1 of the License Agreement, titled "Grant of License," states that Nordion has the right to grant sublicenses to third parties, as follows:

As of the Closing Date, Rad Source hereby grants to Nordion, and Nordion accepts, for the term of the license as set out in Section 12.1, subject to the second sentence of this Section 3.1, an exclusive right and license (transferable, with the right to grant sublicenses to third parties ("Sublicensees") on such terms as are consistent with this Agreement to Use the Licensed Technology for the System (including as modified by Nordion) and for the single power supply version of the System, in the Territory ....

App. at 72-73 (emphasis added). The term "Licensed Technology" is defined in Article 1.6 of the License Agreement to include "the Patent(s), and Technical Information as set out in Schedule A." App. at 71. In turn, Schedule A states that "Licensed Technology" includes not only the Patents, but also the drawings, specifications, manuals and procedures for the RS 3000. App. at 93-94.

As set forth in Article 12.1 of the License Agreement, the term of the license commenced on the Closing Date of September 26, 2003 and remains in full force and effect until the expiration or invalidity of the last to expire of the patents in the year 2022. App. at 86. Upon expiration, Article 12.1 provides that the right to use the Licensed Technology does not revert to Rad Source. *Id.* Instead, Nordion may use the Licensed Technology without any further obligation to Rad Source. *Id.* 

#### b. THE RIGHT TO ASSIGN

Article 13.9 of the License Agreement is titled "Assignment" and sets forth the circumstances under which Nordion or Rad Source could assign their rights thereunder. In relevant part, Article 13.9 states:

Neither Nordion nor Rad Source may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement without the express written consent of the other party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; provided that (i) either party may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part, to any of its Affiliates, without consent of the other party ... and (ii) either party may assign its rights and delegate its duties and obligations (in whole or in part) under this Agreement to any entity which acquires all, or substantially all, of its assets or business, without the consent of the other party ... Any assignment in violation of this section shall be void.

App. at 91.

#### 4. RAD SOURCE'S REFUSAL TO CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT

In December 2007, Nordion asked Rad Source to consent to an assignment of the License Agreement from Nordion to Best Medical and Best Theratronics. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 839; App. at 5. Rad Source refused to consent. *Id.* During a January 28, 2008 conference call, Nordion advised Rad Source that, in light of Rad Source's refused to consent to an assignment, Nordion would exercise its right to sublicense the Agreement to Best Medical and Best Theratronics. *Id*; App. at 6.

#### 5. NORDION'S SUBLICENSE TO BEST

On April 30, 2008, pursuant to its right to grant sublicenses in accordance with Article 3.1 of the License Agreement, Nordion entered into the Sublicense Agreement with Best. *MDS (Canada), Inc.*, 720 F.3d at 839; App. at 6. Paragraph E of the Sublicense Agreement expressly states Nordion's and Best's agreement to enter into a sublicense, "as opposed to assigning the License Agreement ...." App. at 63. Article 1.5 of the Sublicense Agreement states that that the agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the parties and "supersede[s] all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written ...." App. at 64.

Article 2.1 of the Sublicense Agreement, titled "Grant of Sublicense," states that Nordion grants Best:

... an exclusive right and sublicense (the "Sublicense") to Use the Licensed Technology for the System and for the single power supply version of the System, in the Territory all on the terms and conditions contained in the License Agreement save and except as varied by this Agreement.

App. at 64.

Article 2.2 of the Sublicense Agreement states that the term of the agreement shall be as follows:

The term of this Sublicense shall commence on the Effective Date and, unless terminated earlier pursuant to this Agreement, shall be equal to the term of the License Agreement less one (1) day.

App. at 64. Thus, Nordion retained an interest in the License Agreement, including the right to use the licensed technology after the License Agreement concluded. Further, pursuant to Article 2.7 of the Sublicense Agreement, Nordion remained obligated to enforce against Rad Source all of Rad Source's obligations under the License Agreement. App. at. 65. Nordion also remained liable to Rad Source for any breach of the License Agreement. Thereafter, Nordion and Best conducted themselves in accord with the Sublicense Agreement. [R. 333, p. 164].

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants respectfully submit that the certified question should be answered by finding that, when a licensee enters into a contract to transfer its interests in a license agreement for the term of the license agreement, less one day, and remains liable to the licensor under the license agreement, the contract is a sublicense, not an assignment. That answer accords with decisions by this Court and the Florida District Courts of Appeal, as well as the common law rule, which clearly hold that, as a matter of law, an assignment occurs only when a party transfers its entire interest to another party. When, as here, a party retains any rights or interest, an assignment has not occurred. The dissent from the Eleventh Circuit's opinion aptly called this a "bright line rule."

When measured by this familiar bright line rule, the Sublicense Agreement is plainly a sublicense and not an assignment because it is indisputable that

Nordion did not transfer all of its rights under the License Agreement to Best via the Sublicense Agreement. In addition to the fact that the term of the Sublicense Agreement was a day shorter than the term of the License Agreement, the Sublicense Agreement required Nordion to enforce against Rad Source the obligations of the License Agreement. Further, in the event of breach of any obligations under the License Agreement, Rad Source would look to Nordion, not Best, for recovery.

As a matter of law, it is irrelevant that the Sublicense Agreement was entered into after Rad Source refused to consent to an assignment. None of the parties, nor the Eleventh Circuit, contend that the Sublicense Agreement is unclear or ambiguous. Accordingly, under Florida law, extrinsic evidence concerning a contemplated assignment from Nordion to Best should not be considered. Rather, as with any contract, the Sublicense Agreement should be interpreted in accordance with its clear and unambiguous terms.

Conversely, even if evidence regarding Rad Source's refusal to consent to an assignment is deemed relevant, that evidence only underscores Nordion and Best's intent to enter into a sublicense. The Sublicense Agreement expressly states that the parties had decided not to enter into an assignment. The terms of the Sublicense Agreement reflect that intent by Nordion's retention of rights and liability under the License Agreement with Rad Source.

The Eleventh Circuit certified the precise question that it asked this Court to answer. Although not included as part of the certified question, in a footnote to the majority opinion, the Eleventh Circuit also invited this Court to consider whether the Sublicense Agreement could constitute an equitable assignment. Appellants respectfully submit that this Court should decline the invitation to respond to an issue that was not presented as a certified question. Art. V, § 3(b)(6), Fla. Const. V states that this Court may review a question certified by a federal court of appeals, but it does not provide for consideration of matters that have not been presented as a certified question. Thus, in the past, this Court has declined to address an issue that was not certified.

Alternatively, if this Court chooses to address the equitable assignment issue, it should find that, as a matter of law, the Sublicense Agreement does not constitute an equitable assignment. An equitable assignment may found only when it is necessary to implement the plain intent of the parties. Here, the parties to the Sublicense Agreement – Nordion and Best – plainly intended to enter into a sublicense and not an assignment.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a pure question of law is *de novo*. *Armstrong v*. *Harris*, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

# B. UNDER FLORIDA LAW, THE SUBLICENSE AGREEMENT IS NOT AN ASSIGNMENT

Under Florida law "it is well established that an 'assignment transfers to the assignee <u>all</u> of the interests and rights of the assignor in and to the thing assigned." *Rose v. Teitler*, 736 So.2d 122 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (emphasis added), *quoting*, *State v. Family Bank of Hallandale*, 667 So.2d 257, 259 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). When there has been an assignment, "[t]he assignee thereafter stands in the shoes of the assignor and may enforce the contract against the original obligor in his own name." *Lauren Kyle Holdings, Inc. v. Heath-Peterson Const. Corp.*, 864 So.2d 55, 58 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). Accordingly, "an assignor retains no rights to enforce the contract after it has been assigned." *Id.*, 864 So.2d at 58.

Thus, the test that Florida courts have applied to determine whether a contract constitutes an assignment is whether the *entire* interest is transferred without retention of any revisionary interest. *See*, *e.g.*, *C.N.H.F.*, *Inc. v. Eagle Crest Dev. Co.*, 128 So. 844, 845 (Fla. 1930); *Estate of Basile v. Famest, Inc.*, 718 So.2d 892 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). In *C.N.H.F.*, this Court held that the contract between the parties was an assignment because it transferred all of the assignor's leasehold interest to the assignee, "and left no fragment of the term for surrender to the original lessee ...." *C.N.H.F.*, 128 So. at 1241 (emphasis added). This is consistent with the common law rule. *See*, *e.g.*, *Joseph Brothers Company v. F.W. Woolworth Co.*, 844 F.2d 369, 372 (6th Cir. 1988), *citing*, *Restatement (Second) of* 

Property, Land. & Ten. § 15.1, Comment i (1977) (stating that under the "common law generally, an assignment of a leasehold is a transaction in which a lessee transfers its entire interest in the lease premises for the unexpired term of the lease," in contrast when "the lessee transfers less than his entire estate or the balance of the term, it is a sublease").

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