TGEGKXGF."; 14614235"38⊲: -69."Vj qo cu"F0J cm"Engtm"Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

#### No. SC13-1215

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### MDS (CANADA), INC., BEST THERATRONICS, LTD., AND BEST MEDICAL INTERNATIONAL, INC. *Appellants*

v.

RAD SOURCE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Appellee

Certified Question From The United States Court of Appeals For The Eleventh Circuit (Lower Tribunal Case No. 11-15145)

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE RAD SOURCE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.**

#### SPECTOR RUBIN, P.A.

Andrew R. Spector Florida Bar No. 634093

Continental Plaza 3250 Mary Street, Suite 304 Miami, Florida 33133 Tel.: (305) 537-2002 Fax.: (305) 537-2001 Email: andrew.spector@spectorrubin.com

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

Even if the Court considers the merits of the certified question in the context of the unique facts of this case, it should hold that under Florida law an agreement such as the Sublicense Agreement would constitute an assignment. To that end, the real estate lease cases cited by Nordion-Best are of no help because those cases do not address the factual circumstances or policy considerations at stake here. And, in fact, even to the extent those cases are considered, it is clear that the Sublicense Agreement is not what it purports to be.

Nor is there any credence to Nordion-Best's argument that the issue before the Court is one of pure contract construction limited to the four corners of the Sublicense Agreement. Indeed, if that were the case, the Court would have to decline answering the Certified Question because the Sublicense Agreement mandates that it is to be interpreted under Canadian law. Rather, the purpose of the Eleventh Circuit's certified question is to obtain guidance to determine whether, under the circumstances, the Sublicense Agreement is, in reality, an assignment in breach of the License Agreement.

There is no bright line rule under Florida law that addresses the resolution of this complex issue. Rather, to the extent that the Court seeks to resolve the merits of the certified question, it should restate the certified question to address the unique circumstances in this case and rule that, under applicable Florida law, including the equitable assignment doctrine, an agreement such as the Sublicense Agreement is an assignment.

In sum, Rad Source requests that the Court decline to answer the certified question because it is governed by federal law. In the alternative, Rad Source requests that the Court answer the (restated) certified question to hold that an agreement such as the Sublicense Agreement is an assignment under Florida law.

#### ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS TO AUTHORITY

#### I. The Standard of Review.

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(6), Fla. Const., which states that the Court "[m]ay review a question of law certified by the Supreme Court of the United States or a United States Court of Appeals which is determinative of the cause and for which there is no controlling precedent of the supreme court of Florida." A pure question of law is typically subject to a *de novo* standard of review. *See Major League Baseball v. Morsani*, 790 So. 2d 1071, 1074 (Fla. 2001).

#### II. The Issue Underlying The Certified Question Is Governed By Federal Law, Which Provides That the Sublicense Agreement Is an Assignment.

Rad Source submits that the Court's inquiry pertaining to whether the an agreement like the Sublicense Agreement constitutes an assignment is not one controlled by Florida law. Rather, federal law governs because at issue is the transfer of patent rights. As a result, on this particular issue, the district court correctly cited applicable federal patent law in its opinion, ([R.350]-76), as did Rad Source in its briefing to the Eleventh Circuit. (App., Ex. A, pp. 47-52).

#### A. Federal law governs the issue before the Court.

A number of appellate courts faced with a similar inquiry have ruled that disputes regarding the transfer or assignability of patent rights and licenses are governed by federal law. *See, e.g., Rhone-Poulenc Agro, S.A. v. DeKalb Genetics Corp.*, 284 F.3d 1323, 1328 (Fed. Cir. 2002) ("On the related question of the transferability of patent licenses, many courts have concluded that federal law must be applied."), *cert. denied, Monsanto Co. v. Bayer CropScience, S.A.*, 539 U.S. 957, 123 S. Ct. 2668 (2003); *In re CFLC, Inc.*, 89 F.3d 673, 679 (9th Cir. 1996) (concluding that "federal law governs the assignability of patent licenses because of the conflict between federal patent policy and state laws"); *Cincom Sys. v.* 

*Novelis Corp.*, 581 F.3d 431, 436 (6th Cir. 2009) (affirming its prior holding in *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Guardian Indus. Corp.*, 597 F.2d 1090 (6th Cir. 1979) that "questions with respect to the assignability of a patent" are governed by federal law); *see also* 2-9 Milgrim on Licensing § 9.04 (2013) ("While a contract pertaining to patents is governed for the most part by state law contract-construction principles, the fact that the subject matter of the agreement relates to patents makes it appropriate, and in some instances obligatory for a court, to look to federal case law pertaining to patents and patent infringement to resolve disputes.").

Typically, this issue arises in the context of standing and liability in a patent infringement dispute. *See, e.g., Innovus Prime, LLC v. Panasonic Corp.*, No. C-12-00660-RMW, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93820, \*7-9 (N.D. Cal. Jul. 2, 2013) (ruling that federal law overrides choice of law clause in inquiry involving assignment of agreement concerning patent rights); *DDB Techs., L.L.C. v. MLB Advanced Media, L.P.*, 517 F.3d 1284, 1289-90 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (resolving that federal law, and not state law, governed whether employment agreement automatically assigned patents to employer); *Bd. of Trs. v. Roche Molecular Sys.*, 487 F. Supp. 2d 1099, 1122-23 (N.D. Cal. 2007), *aff<sup>\*</sup>d in part and vacated in part*, 583 F.3d 832 (Fed. Cir. 2009), *aff<sup>\*</sup>d*, 131 S. Ct. 2188, 180 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2011) (holding that federal law governed inquiry of whether patent license was

assignable).

The application of this principle, however, is by no means limited to patent infringement suits. For example, in deciding what patent rights were transferred in a contract between two co-inventors of a patented device, the Eleventh Circuit has looked to federal law, including the seminal decision of *Waterman v. Mackenzie*, 138 U.S. 252, 11 S.Ct. 334 (1891). *See Devlin v. Ingrum*, 928 F.2d 1084, 1092 n.12 (11th Cir. 1991). Also, the *CFLC* case involved an inquiry of whether a patent license was assumable and assignable in bankruptcy. 89 F.3d at 673, 679. *See also Ark Patent Int'l, LLC v. Tarksol Int'l*, LLC, 906 N.Y.S.2d 777, 2009 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 3555 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Dec. 11, 2009), *aff'd*, 79 A.D.3d 1732 (N.Y. App. Div. 2010) (ruling that federal law, and not state law, governed whether "Exclusive License Agreement" was, in fact, an assignment in rescission of contract suit).

One of the primary reasons why federal law applies to the above-referenced cases and to the present inquiry before the Court is explained in the *CFLC* decision. In that case, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals explained that federal patent laws exist to grant an inventor exclusivity to practice an invention for a certain number of years. 89 F.3d at 679. If a particular state law allowed for free assignability of a nonexclusive patent license, the patent holder would lose control over the identity of downstream licensees. *Id.* This would create a situation

"fraught with . . . danger[,]" one where a licensee could transfer a patent license to "a party whom the patent holder itself might be absolutely unwilling to license." *Id.* 

This policy underscores the exact concern that Rad Source faced when it reasonably refused to consent to an assignment of the License Agreement from Nordion to Best. *MDS*, 720 F.3d at 850. Rad Source was well within its rights to refuse Best as a licensee. *Id.* Nordion-Best nevertheless decided to make an endrun around the License Agreement's anti-assignment clause by entering into the Sublicense Agreement, *id.* at 855, jeopardizing Rad Source's ability to control the identity of its licensee. Therefore, if in answering the certified question, Florida law could potentially condone Nordion-Best's scheme, it would be in contravention of this body of federal patent law and the policy of protecting the licensing rights of patent owners like Rad Source.<sup>6</sup>

## **B.** Under federal law, the Sublicense Agreement is, in reality, an assignment.

The governing federal law provides that a "license may be tantamount to an assignment . . . if it conveys to the licensee all substantial rights to the patent at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indeed, in other circumstances, the Court has recognized that Florida law must yield to federal patent law. *See, e.g., Chandris, S.A. v. Yanakakis*, 668 So. 2d 180, 183 (Fla. 1995) (per *Sperry v. Florida ex rel. Florida Bar*, 373 U.S. 379 (1963), "Florida could not enjoin a nonlawyer registered to practice before the United States Patent Office from" patent prosecution work in Florida). Similarly, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the application of federal patent law, rather than Florida law, in denying one of Appellants' contract claims. *MDS*, 720 F.3d at 846-849.

issue." *Aspex Eyewear, Inc. v. Miracle Optics, Inc.*, 434 F.3d 1336, 1340 (Fed. Cir. 2006). This is because "[w]hether a transfer of a particular right or interest under a patent is an assignment or a license does not depend upon the name by which it calls itself, but upon the legal effect of its provisions." *Waterman*, 138 U.S. at 256.

For example, where a licensee attempted to circumvent an "anti-assignment" provision in a patent license through a cleverly crafted set of five sales contracts, the Seventh Circuit noted that the contracts were "merely a device for defeating the anti-assignment clause" and that the contracts "differ from an assignment only in formal, in the sense of economically empty, respects." *Cook v. Boston Scientific Corp.*, 333 F.3d 737, 742-743 (7th Cir. 2003); *see also Nano-Proprietary, Inc. v. Canon Inc.*, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14336, \*18 (W.D. Tex. Feb. 22, 2007) (noting "importance of looking past the 'neatly tailored drafting' of contracts intended to circumvent a licensing agreement"), *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 537 F.3d 394 (5th Cir. 2008); *Flexiteek Americas, Inc. v. Plasteak, Inc.*, 626 F. Supp. 2d 1251, 1257-58 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (holding that extrinsic evidence and surrounding circumstances considered to determine whether agreement was assignment).

The *Biosynexus* case cited in Rad Source's Eleventh Circuit briefing, (App., Ex. A, pp. 49-50), which has facts strikingly similar to those in this appeal, is perhaps the best example of why the Sublicense Agreement is, in reality, an

assignment. See Biosynexus, Inc. v. Glaxo Group Ltd., 816 N.Y.S.2d 693, 2006 NY Misc LEXIS 468 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Mar. 13, 2006) (unpublished), *aff'd in part*, *modified in part, and vacated in part by*, 40 A.D.3d 384 (N.Y. App. Div. 2007), *appeal denied by*, 2007 N.Y. App. Div. LEXIS 8682 (N.Y. App. Div. Jul. 19, 2007). In that case, the trial court held that federal law, and not state law, governed its analysis in holding that a purported sublicense of patented technology to a third-party was, in fact, an assignment. 816 N.Y.S.2d 693. In affirming this decision, the appellate division held that the trial court "appropriately looked to federal case law on standing in patent infringement cases . . . ." 40 A.D.3d at 384.

Biosynexus entered into a broad license agreement with Glaxo, whereby Glaxo also received an "unrestricted right to sublicense the technology." 816 N.Y.S.2d 693. The agreement, however, prohibited Glaxo "from assigning its rights without Biosynexus's prior approval." Later, however, Glaxo "entered into an agreement with [third-party] MedImmune, where [Glaxo] purported to sublicense to MedImmune the same rights to the . . . technology granted to [Glaxo] under the" agreement. *Id.* "In this agreement, [Glaxo] also delegated to MedImmune substantially all of its obligations under the" agreement. *Id.* Biosynexus sued, claiming that this purported sublicense was, in fact, an unpermitted assignment.

Citing federal patent law, the Biosynexus court held that an examination of

the agreement shows that Glaxo "intended to effect an assignment to MedImmune of substantially all its rights to the patented . . . technology" and that the "terms of the agreement tend to show that [Glaxo] intended to divest itself of substantially all control over the technology." *Id.* at \*5. As a result, the court held that this was an assignment, and not a sublicense, of the original agreement. *Id.* 

Likewise, in this case, applying federal law, the district court correctly held that "[t]he Sublicense Agreement substantively transferred all rights held by Nordion in the technology licensed under the License Agreement" to Best, "which was in effect an assignment of Nordion's rights under the License Agreement to Best without [Rad Source's] express written consent ...." ([R.350]-72).

Hence, because federal law governs the inquiry and under that law the Sublicense Agreement is, in reality, an assignment, Rad Source respectfully requests that the Court decline to answer the certified question pursuant to its discretion under Art. V, § 3(b)(6), Fla. Const.

### III. Even If the Court Applies Florida Law, It Is Clear That the Sublicense Agreement Is, In Reality, an Assignment.

### A. The certified question is not limited to an inquiry of pure contract construction.

Nordion-Best pretend that the Court's charge is merely to interpret the Sublicense Agreement in a vacuum. (Nordion-Best's Br., pp. 11, 17). That is clearly not the case. Indeed, if it were, the certified question would have been presented to a *Canadian* court because Section 1.8 of the Sublicense Agreement mandates that it be "interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein." (App., Ex. B, p. 3). By Nordion-Best's argument, Florida law has no application here and the Court should decline to answer the certified question.

In reality, what is vexing the Eleventh Circuit is the holistic inquiry of whether the Sublicense Agreement constitutes a breach of the License Agreement. *MDS*, 720 F.3d at 854. The court noted that "Appellants argue that the district court erred when it concluded that . . . the sublicense agreement was tantamount to an unconsented-to assignment." *Id.* Because the court is "uncertain of the proper resolution of this issue, a majority of [its] panel . . . decided to certify the issue to" this Court. *Id.* In fact, so that the Court could consider the certified question in the context of this overall issue of breach, the Eleventh Circuit transmitted "the entire record, along with the briefs of the parties," to the Court. *Id.* at 856.

#### **B.** The Court should restate the certified question as necessary.

Nordion-Best also seek to deter the Court from answering the certified question in a practical manner, requesting that the Court limit its inquiry to the precise language of the question presented by the Eleventh Circuit. (Nordion-Best's Br., pp. 12, 19-21). Yet, to emphasize that the Court should not elevate form over substance, the Eleventh Circuit stated that:

The phrasing of this certified question should not restrict the Florida Supreme Court's consideration of the problem posed by this case. This extends to the Florida Supreme Court's restatement of the issues and the manner in which the answer is given.

*MDS*, 720 F.3d at 856. At the same time, the Eleventh Circuit proposed that the equitable assignment doctrine may be relevant to this Court's resolution of the overall issue. *Id.* at n.10.

The Eleventh Circuit's request is nothing novel. In keeping with its discretion under Art. V, § 3(b)(6), Fla. Const., the Court has previously restated and reframed certified questions to address the substance of an issue before it. *See, e.g., Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co.*, 498 So. 2d 882, 883 (Fla. 1986) (restating certified question because Court did "not view the question [presented] as germane to the facts alleged in the pleadings"), *overruled in part on other grounds, Bakerman v. Bombay Co.*, 961 So. 2d 259, 262 (Fla. 2007); *Iglehart v. Phillips*, 383 So. 2d 610, 613, 616 (Fla. 1980) (restating four certified questions).

Nordion-Best are also incorrect that in *Adams v. Fid. & Cas. Co. of N.Y.*, 591 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1992), the Court "declined to consider issues that were not certified by the Eleventh Circuit." (Nordion-Best's Br., p. 20). In that case, the Eleventh Circuit certified to the Court a question about Fla. Stat. § 624.155(1)(b)1. *Adams v. Fid. & Cas. Co. of N.Y.*, 920 F.2d 897, 900 (11th Cir. 1991). In a footnote, the court also posed an ancillary question that was not raised

by the parties. *Id.* at n.6. In answering the certified question, however, this Court issued a very short opinion, stating that existing precedent was determinative of the question, and it, therefore, "decline[d] to address the certified question further." *Adams*, 591 So. 2d at 930. In other words, the Court had no reason to reach the Eleventh Circuit's footnote inquiry, which is quite unlike Nordion-Best's characterization that the Court "declined" to consider that inquiry. (Nordion-Best's Br., p. 20).

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